

CONSTITUTION OF THE BLOOMINGTON FACULTY OF INDIANA UNIVERSITY

(Adopted by Action of the Bloomington Faculty Council and Bloomington Faculty:
May 6, 1975 and November 14, 1975; Last Amended: November 13, 2007)

Article I: The Faculty ~~and Others with Privilege~~

Section 1.1: The Faculty

The faculty ~~shall consist~~ing of the University President, Bloomington Provost and all professors and instructors with tenure ~~related~~ eligible appointments at the Bloomington Campus. ~~shall have the privilege of full participation in Faculty Council activities.~~

Section 1.2: Professional Librarians

Professional librarians at Bloomington with tenure ~~related~~ eligible appointments shall have all the privileges and rights vested in the faculty by this constitution.

Section 1.3: ~~Professional Researchers~~Non-Tenure Track Faculty

Holders of non-tenure track faculty appointments research ranks at the Bloomington Campus (as defined by action of the Board of Trustees on February 7, 1981 and by the Bloomington Faculty Council on November 13, 2007) shall have the privilege of full participation in Faculty Council activities.

Section 1.4: Associate Faculty

Associate faculty ~~shall consist~~ing of administrative officers of the Bloomington Campus who do not hold academic rank ~~and all persons holding academic appointments~~ at the Bloomington Campus and who do not qualify as faculty under the provisions of Section 1. ~~shall have the privilege of full participation in Faculty Council activities.~~

Section 1.5: Emeritus Faculty ~~and Librarians~~

Emeritus faculty ~~and librarians shall have the status of associate faculty.~~ shall have the privilege of full participation in Faculty Council activities.

Section 1.6: Certification of Members

Certification of persons qualifying under the definitions of Sections 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 shall be made by the University President Provost ~~as required in Section 3 of the Constitution of the Indiana University Faculty.~~

Article II: Authority of the Faculty

Section 2.1: Authority of the Faculty

- A. The faculty of the campus has legislative and consultative authority ~~pertaining to the campus~~ regarding:
1. The campus' academic mission.
 2. The campus' structure of faculty governance, consistent with the university faculty standards.
 3. Policy and allocation of authority for academic matters affecting more than one school on the campus including campus curriculum and General Education.
 4. Bloomington aAcademic calendar, with only such deviation from the university calendar made necessary by local circumstances.
 5. Creation, reorganization, merger, and elimination of programs and units affecting more than one school on the campus.
 6. Appointment, promotion and tenure, compensation, conduct and discipline, and grievances of campus faculty, consistent with university faculty standards.
 7. Appointment and review of campus academic officers and administrative officers affecting the academic mission, consistent with university standards.

8. Admission and retention of students to the campus.

9. Standards and systems for the evaluation of student academic performance of the campus.

~~8.~~10. Campus facilities and budgets.

~~9.~~11. Campus student conduct and discipline, consistent with university standards.

~~10.~~12. Intercollegiate and intramural athletics.

13. Academic programs not within the authority of a school faculty. In such cases the campus faculty exercises the same authority as would be vested in a school faculty.

~~11.~~14. Other matters affecting the academic mission of the campus, subject to the legislative authority of the university and school faculties.

~~12. Academic programs not within the authority of a school faculty. In such cases the campus faculty exercises the same authority as would be vested in a school faculty.~~

B. School faculties (including the faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences) have legislative and consultative authority pertaining to the school regarding:

1. The school's academic mission.
2. The school's structure of faculty governance, consistent with university faculty standards.
3. Creation, reorganization, merger, and elimination of academic programs and units within the school.
4. Authority of academic units within the school and the relations between them.
5. Conferring of degrees.
6. School Curriculum.
7. Bloomington aAcademic calendar, with only such deviation from university and campus calendars made necessary by special curricular or accreditation requirements.
8. Admission and retention of students in the school.
9. Standards for student academic performance for students majoring in the school.
10. Student conduct and discipline, consistent with university and campus faculty standards.
11. Appointment, promotion and tenure, compensation, conduct and discipline, and grievances of school faculty, consistent with university and campus faculty standards.
12. School facilities and budgets.
13. Appointment and review of school academic officers (except the dean of the school) and administrative officers affecting the school's academic mission, consistent with university and campus faculty standards.
14. Other matters affecting the academic mission of the school, subject to the legislative authority of the university and campus faculties.

Section 2.2: Exercise of Faculty Authority

- A. Campus faculty authority may be exercised in meeting or by ~~mail~~ ballot but normally shall be delegated to a body of elected representatives, the Bloomington Faculty Council.
- B. Faculties of schools or of the college may delegate authority to faculties of departments, divisions, or other academic units. The faculty of any unit to which faculty authority is delegated shall establish democratic means of self-governance, consistent with university, campus, and school/college faculty standards. Appointments of faculty to the unit, or to the chair of the unit, should be made only after consultation with the members of the unit.

Article III: Officers

Section 3.1: Officers

The Bloomington Provost shall routinely preside at meetings of the Council. It is recommended that the University President preside for at least one meeting each semester. The Council shall elect from among its elected faculty members a President Pro Tempore, a Secretary, a Parliamentarian, and an Agenda Committee. The President Pro Tempore shall preside at meetings of the Faculty Council and at meetings of the Faculty in the absence of the Bloomington Provost or University President and shall be the presiding officer of the Agenda Committee. The Secretary and the Parliamentarian also shall serve as members of the Agenda Committee.

The ~~Presiding Officer, the~~ President Pro Tempore, the Secretary, and the Parliamentarian of the Bloomington Faculty Council shall serve concurrently in these positions ~~for the Bloomington Faculty.~~

Article IV: Meetings of the Faculty

Section 4.1: Regular Meetings

~~The faculty and associate faculty shall hold one regular meeting, as early as practicable during the first semester of each academic year, on a date fixed by the President. At this meeting the President shall report on the state of the Bloomington Campus.~~

Section 4.12: Special Meetings

Special meetings of the faculty may be convened by the University President, by the Bloomington Provost, by petition to the President Pro Tempore of 50 faculty members, or by majority vote of the Bloomington Faculty Council.

Section 4.23: Quorum and Majority

~~For decisions not within the ordinary course of business, a~~ A quorum of 200 of the faculty is required ~~to conduct business.~~ Unless 800 or more faculty members are present, a mail ballot of the faculty is required to ratify any action taken. A majority of those voting in the mail ballot shall be required for ratification.

Section 4.34: Notice of Meetings

~~Except in the case of an emergency declared by the President, t~~The President Pro Tempore shall post notification of a meeting and its agenda to notify each member and associate member of the faculty at least one week in advance of the date of a ~~regular or special meeting,~~ except in the case of an emergency declared by the University President,

Section 4.45: Record of Meetings

The ~~Chief of Staff Secretary~~ shall keep comprehensive minutes of the proceedings and actions of all faculty meetings and make copies available to members and associate members of the faculty.

Article V: Meetings of the Bloomington Faculty Council

Section 5.1: Meetings

The Agenda Committee shall schedule meetings of the Bloomington Faculty Council on the first and third Tuesdays of the month during the regular school year, to include at least four meetings each semester. Council meetings shall be open to non-members as provided in the bylaws.

Section 5.2: Legislative Functions

All matters appropriate for faculty action under Section 2.1 may be considered by the Bloomington Faculty Council. The Council may act as the representative of the faculty or may refer such matters to the faculty.

Section 5.3: Administrative Functions

The Bloomington Faculty Council shall have administrative powers to carry out its functions, financed from University funds, and to adopt its own bylaws.

Section 5.4: Responsibility to the Faculty

- A. The Council promptly shall report its proceedings to the faculty and to the associate faculty.
- B. On votes dealing with substantive matters, the reports shall include an accounting of how the individual Council members, or their alternates, voted.
- C. At the request of a majority of the Council members present, any matter must be submitted to the faculty for consideration, either by mail ballot or at a faculty meeting.

Section 5.5: Officers

~~The President of the University and Provost shall have shared responsibility for presiding at meetings of the Council; the President may shall preside for at least one meeting each semester. The Council shall elect from~~

~~among its elected faculty members a President Pro Tempore, a Secretary, a Parliamentarian, and an Agenda Committee. The President Pro Tempore shall preside at meetings of the Faculty Council and at meetings of the Faculty in the absence of the President or Provost and shall be the presiding officer of the Agenda Committee. The Secretary and the Parliamentarian also shall serve as members of the Agenda Committee.~~

Section 5.56: Members

A. Representation of Faculty and Librarian Units.

1. Faculty and Librarian Election Units; Qualifications of Representatives

The following units shall each constitute an election unit: College of Arts and Sciences; School of Business; School of Education; School of Health, Physical Education, and Recreation; School of Journalism; School of Law; School of Library and Information Science; School of Music; School of Optometry; School of Public and Environmental Affairs; the Library; and the School of Informatics. However, the College of Arts and Sciences shall be divided into sub-election units in a manner specified by agreement of the College Policy Committee and the Bloomington Faculty Council Nomination Committee. Such division of the College into sub-election units shall be published with the Council's bylaws governing the conduct of elections. Further, any academic units with faculty on the Bloomington campus not included within the above units shall be grouped together to constitute an election unit. Council representatives from election units must be persons qualifying under sections 1.1 or 1.2 of this constitution and shall be nominated and elected by such qualified persons in the represented unit.

2. Basis of Representation

Each faculty and librarian election unit shall have a minimum of one Council representative. The Council's bylaws shall specify a basis for apportioning representatives to election units in accordance with the number of persons in the units qualifying under sections 1.1 or 1.2 of this constitution so that there will be not less than thirty nor more than thirty-five faculty and librarian unit Council representatives. The College of Arts and Sciences, in addition to its representatives of its sub-election units, shall have a representative to represent the College at large.

B. At-Large Campus Representatives

There shall be ten Council representatives elected from the Bloomington campus at large of whom at least two must be untenured. Such representatives must be persons qualifying under section 1.1 and 1.2 of this constitution.

C. Non-Tenure Track Campus Representation

Non-tenure track faculty shall constitute an election unit entitled to three representatives. One Council representative must hold a Research Appointment and qualify under section 1.3 of this Constitution. One Council representative must hold a Clinical Appointment and qualify under section 1.3.4 of this Constitution. One Council representative must hold a Lecturer Appointment and qualify under section 1.4 of this Constitution.

D. Retired Faculty and Librarians

Retired faculty and librarians with an Indiana address of record in the Dean of the Faculties Office shall constitute an election unit entitled to two Council representatives.

E. Term of Office, Nomination, and Election

The Council representatives specified in sections 5.6.A to D shall hold office for a two-year term. Except as provided below, an elected member shall be eligible to serve two consecutive terms but then shall be ineligible for the next two elections. A person elected President Pro Tempore of the Council shall be eligible for an extension of term of office, as provided in the Council's bylaws, that can result in a maximum of five years of consecutive Council membership. Any member whose term has been so extended shall be ineligible for re-election to the Council for the next two elections following the end of his or her term as president pro tempore. In the conduct of elections, the Council's Nomination Committee shall arrange that half of the unit representatives and half of the at-large representatives will be elected each year. The Council's bylaws shall specify the procedures for nomination and election of unit and at-large representatives.

F. Administrators

The President and Provost and such additional administrative officers as may be designated in the Council's bylaws shall be voting members of the Council.

G. Student Representatives

The voting membership of the Council shall include:

1. The President and a Vice President of the Student Association.
2. Four graduate students selected in accordance with the procedures of the Graduate Student Organization, of whom at least one shall be an officer of the Graduate Student Organization and at least two shall be associate instructors.

H. The President of the Professional Council shall be a voting member of the Council.

I. Non-voting Members

The Council's bylaws may provide for non-voting BFC representation of other campus constituencies.

Section 5.7: Relation of Bloomington Faculty Council to Faculty and Librarian Unit Governance

The Council's Bylaws shall provide for ways in which the work of the Council and faculty and librarian unit governance may be coordinated. To that end, a Council representative from each faculty and librarian unit elected pursuant to section 5.6.A shall serve as a Council liaison to the policy committee, or equivalent, of the unit. In the case of the College of Arts and Sciences, this representative shall be the representative elected from the College at large. For other units with more than one Council representative, the Council's bylaws shall adopt a means of specifying which of its representatives shall serve in the policy committee liaison role.

Article VI: University Faculty Council

Section 6.1: Bloomington Representation

Authority on matters falling under the jurisdiction of the University Faculty Council shall be exercised by Bloomington faculty representatives selected in a manner specified in the [Bloomington Faculty Council](#) bylaws [Section 4.E](#).

Article VII: Review Functions of the Faculty

Section 7.1: Bloomington Faculty Board of Review

The review functions of the faculty at Bloomington shall be exercised by a Bloomington Faculty Board of Review. This board shall consider complaints concerning academic freedom, reappointment, tenure, promotion, salary adjustment, and the nature or conditions of work. Any member of the faculty or associate faculty at Bloomington, with the exception of associate instructors, desiring a review of administrative action in these stated areas may request in writing a hearing by this Board of Review.

Section 7.2: Organization of the Faculty Board of Review

The elected faculty representatives of the Bloomington Faculty Council shall select five members of the faculty as the Bloomington Faculty Board of Review. The members of the Board shall select their own presiding officer. The members shall hold office from the first day of May for staggered terms of two years. Alternates shall be selected by the Bloomington Faculty Council to replace temporarily those members of the Board absent from campus ~~during the summer sessions~~. Members and alternates shall complete the review of any case which they have begun to consider. At least two years shall elapse between terms of office. In offering nominations for election to the Faculty Board of Review, consideration should be given to representation across academic ranks, among divisions of the University, and between tenured and non-tenured faculty.

Section 7.3: Procedures

The procedures governing the operation of the Bloomington Faculty Board of Review shall be established by the Bloomington Faculty Council.

Article VIII: Amendments

Section 8.1: Initiated by the Council

A motion to amend this constitution may be presented to and discussed by the Bloomington Faculty Council. If the Council votes to recommend that the general faculty consider the amendment, the President Pro Tempore shall circulate the document to the voting members of the faculty. If within fifteen class days the faculty have not

scheduled a meeting to consider the amendment, the President Pro Tempore shall proceed according to Section 8.3.

Section 8.2: Initiated by a Meeting of the Faculty

A motion to amend this constitution may be presented to and discussed at a meeting of the faculty. If the meeting votes in favor of the amendment, the President Pro Tempore shall proceed according to Section 8.3.

Section 8.3: Ratification by the Faculty

If a proposed amendment has been approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council and considered by a meeting of the faculty or if fifteen class days have elapsed after Council approval without a call for a faculty meeting or if a proposed amendment has been approved by a duly convened faculty meeting, the President Pro Tempore shall circulate a ballot to the faculty. The ~~mail-paper or electronic~~ ballot shall be accompanied by a summary of arguments presented during any general faculty meeting at which the amendment was considered. ~~The President Pro Tempore shall count the ballots and report the results to the general faculty. The Chief of Staff of the Faculty Council Office will receive the ballots and present the outcome for review to the President pro Tempore.~~ A majority of those voting in the mail ballot shall be necessary for adoption of the amendment.

Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: May 6, 1975
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: November 14, 1975
Amended by the Bloomington Faculty Council: February 5, 1980
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: May 2, 1980
Amended by the Bloomington Faculty Council: February 15, 1983
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: April 15, 1983
Amended by the Bloomington Faculty Council: February 4, 1992
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: March 9, 1992
Amended by the Bloomington Faculty Council: February 16, 1993
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: June 25, 1993
Amended by the Bloomington Faculty Council: April 19, 1994
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: September 2, 1994
Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: November 18, 1997
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: December 15, 1997
Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: April 20, 1999
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: November 12, 1999
Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: October 19, 2004
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: November 3, 2004
Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: April 18, 2006
Approved by the Bloomington Faculty Council: April 3, 2007
Ratified by the Bloomington Faculty: November 13, 2007